© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved.

Designing and Evaluating Health Promotion Programs Simple Rules for a Complex Issue

Nicolaas P. Pronk

Center for Health Promotion, HealthPartners Research Foundation, HealthPartners, Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA

Contents

At 1. 2. 3.	purpose Overall Approach The 4-Ss of Program Design 3.1 Size 3.2 Scope 3.3 Scalability 3.4 Sustainability	149 151 151 151 152 152 152 152
4.	The Penetration, Implementation, Participation and Effectiveness (PIPE) Impact Metric for	
	Evaluating Health Promotion Program Impact	153
5.		153
	5.1 Penetration	153
		153
	5.2 Implementation	154
	5.2.1 Implementation Example	154
	5.3 Participation	154
	5.3.1 Participation Example	154
	5.4 Effectiveness	154
	541 Effectiveness Example	155
6	Calculation of the PIPE Impact Metric	155
7		155
/.		156
	7.2 Limitations and Strenaths	156
Q		156
0.	Conclusion	100

Abstract

Health improvement planning models exist to support strategic management of health improvement efforts and to guide program administrators in taking a comprehensive approach to health promotion planning from problem identification to program evaluation and diffusion. This article outlines a model which follows four simple steps to program design and four simple steps to program evaluation.

The first phase is characterized as the 4-Ss of program design, which includes size, scope, scalability, and sustainability.

The second phase is characterized as the penetration, implementation, participation and effectiveness (PIPE) Impact Metric. Penetration refers to the proportion of the target population that is reached with invitations to engage in the program or intervention. Implementation refers to the degree to which the program has been implemented according to the design specifications and the associated work plans. Participation refers to the proportion of invited individuals who enroll in the program according to program protocol. Effectiveness refers to the rate of successful participants. It is considered in the context of programming conducted in the real-world setting. The product of all elements of the PIPE Impact Metric can be calculated to represent the impact from a program administration perspective, while the product of participation and effectiveness can be calculated to represent the impact of the program from a user/consumer perspective. The model is designed to inform program administrators about opportunities for improvement. First, administrative impact can be compared with user/consumer impact. Secondly, the PIPE Impact Metric total score, as well as its individual subscores, should be considered in the context of the 4-Ss of program design.

This model has been derived from work conducted in the applied setting, however it is based on scientific theory and appears congruent with findings from existing, but more complicated, models. The results of the application of the model indicate the presence of a simple set of rules related to critical health improvement program design and evaluation features. Whereas additional experience with the model will allow for further modifications and evolution, early experience indicates it serves program planners and administrators well in terms of systematic program improvement and documentation of effort and impact.

Health improvement planning models exist to support strategic management of health improvement efforts and to guide program administrators in taking a comprehensive approach to health promotion planning from problem identification to program evaluation and diffusion.^[1-3] Many existing efficacy-based models tend to have a substantial degree of complexity in design and assessment methods. In the applied setting, however, the identification of simple rules that may guide health improvement program design and evaluation is urgently needed.^[4] This issue becomes particularly salient as there is a need for programs to span across multiple settings and audiences, consider multiple behaviors, involve multiple intervention media, provide meaningful evaluations for its customers, users, and administrators, and, perhaps most importantly, provide meaningful data to continuously improve performance.^[5] Whereas existing models serve a useful purpose, access to a simple operationally derived model that supports program applications and is designed to order data, information and knowledge regarding program design, implementation, and evaluation is currently lacking.

Translation of efficacy research into programmatic approaches with high effectiveness is more likely to succeed when simple rules guiding the complexity of real-world applications are identified.^[4-6] To do so, program planners need to be informed by both science and practice. Considering the complexity of multi-level multivariate programming needs, it is important that approaches are guided and informed by current knowledge based on scientific principles. However, it would be a mistake to limit our creativity to the powers of prediction-and-control science as we may be tempted to believe that this kind of science may lead us to an understanding of the whole.^[7] While retaining openminded scientific spirit and the tradition of open, public validation of knowledge, we should look for ways to open up the field of inquiry to upward as well as downward causation, i.e. be ready to learn from real-world applications as they represent an unbroken wholeness.^[8] Therefore, models that are based on operational reality, yet couched in scientific theory, appear to have substantial merit.

Systems thinking theory^[9-15] represents an appropriate the-

ory upon which to base the development of a suitable model for real-world application. Systems theory refers to the new sciences as a collective^[9] and is grounded in the biological sciences.^[9-15] These new sciences, or theories of self-organizing systems, are also known as the sciences of complexity. Defined population health improvement efforts^[16,17] lend themselves well to a systems thinking approach since they are organized to reach the entire population and involve feedback loops for learning and continuous improvement. Previously, we have developed and documented a population health improvement model guided by systems thinking theory.^[18] However, an accompanying program design and impact measurement approach was not included.

Often, when requests for programs occur in the applied setting, needs assessments have already been conducted, operational feasibility has been addressed, and resources have been identified. In short, the decision to address a particular problem or health issue has already been made. However, the method in which the work is to be conducted has not. This is a significant challenge facing operational divisions, departments and/or teams. Program managers need to respond with program designs that include short cycles of continuous improvement, effective implementation strategies, and, above all, maximum impact. Hence, a critical need for guidance on program design exists.

Population health improvement is a broad concept that involves health promotion, disease prevention and the reduction of risk for complications among those who already have adverse health conditions.^[16-20] Programs designed to improve population health tend to be conducted systematically by identifying the problem, defining the scope, understanding the causes, intervening, and evaluating the effectiveness of the interventions.^[1,16-19] Hence, successful programs include those that show a high degree of impact on the population of interest while exhibiting wise resource stewardship. Such programs help identify an important interaction between *a priori* identified resource use and the degree of effectiveness of a program in terms of attaining the success criteria aligned with the program's health improvement goals and objectives.

Resource use is of particular importance since it delineates

how much energy and effort will be devoted by an organization to meet the program goal(s). This involves a conscious decision regarding how much time, money, people, and other resources will be mobilized. In addition, efficiency becomes a predictor for resource utilization, particularly if multiple business units or departments are involved and program implementation occurs in a complex and multidimensional system such as the healthcare delivery system or the public health system. The way in which multiple departments, teams, or individuals work together needs to be recognized in program planning and delivery and is ultimately related to the overall program impact. Furthermore, consumer interest needs to be generated in the program in order to engage a sufficiently large number of individuals of the population and make progress toward the intended outcomes. Program effectiveness needs to be documented and reported in a way that directly relates the population shift toward the intended outcomes. It is important to recognize that the intended audience for a program represents the entire defined population, not only the subgroup of participants who have signed-up, enrolled and participated to a certain degree. From an applied perspective, all these issues are important and should be recognized and addressed in program design, delivery and evaluation.

1. Purpose

It is the purpose of this report to describe a set of simple rules identified to support population health improvement program design and evaluation. It is posited that this set of simple rules is also directly applicable to enhance the way in which individuals, teams, departments or business units work collaboratively towards shared objectives.

2. Overall Approach

Figure 1 depicts a schematic overview of the proposed model for designing and evaluating health promotion programs. It is characterized as a multi-level cascading model that first addresses critical elements of program design and then considers evaluation components that address program implementation and impact. Several considerations in the overall approach of the model include:

- The model is designed to support practical application and operational reality
- The model is not intended to represent a full program planning model; rather, it is intended to represent key features of program design that can optimize the chances for maximum impact once the program is implemented. Other components of program planning would include prerequisites to planning and evaluation such as the decision and justification for un-



Fig. 1. An overview of the 4-S (size, scope, scalability, sustainability) design phase and the penetration, implementation, participation and effectiveness (PIPE) impact metric used as a model for program design and program evaluation.

dertaking the effort as well as process models for the various components of program planning described here.^[21]

- Following program design, key program evaluation features are outlined in a manner that allows for program impact monitoring. The model is therefore sequential in nature.
- The proposed impact metric recognizes a program user's or consumer's perspective as well as a program administrator's perspective. Whereas the bottom line of program impact may be most easily documented as the product of program participation and effectiveness, significant opportunity for improvement may be gleaned from information regarding various aspects of program implementation. Hence, a meaningful difference is depicted in how to assess the impact from these two perspectives.

Whereas the model outlined is sequential in nature and depicted in an essentially linear fashion, it is recognized that many of the underlying issues the model addresses are highly complex and non-linear. Behavior change, disease management, demand management, and health promotion programs are notoriously complex and inherently non-linear. The feature of the model that addresses this issue is the feedback loop built into the design that provides information gathered from the program evaluation phase that is fed back to the program design phase. This notion is consistent with other models, such as the Plan-Do-Study-Act cycle as outlined by Langley and colleagues.^[4]

3. The 4-Ss of Program Design

Overall program design should recognize the challenges of major aims, critical mass and limited resources. Major aims relate

to the intended outcomes of the program. The design of the programs and interventions should not only address the degree to which a given individual needs to improve upon current health status, but also how a critical mass can be reached that allows the population as a whole to reach the desired endpoint. To that end, four critical components of program design are identified and described below. These four components are referred to as the 4-Ss of program design, which are size, scope, scalability, and sustainability.

3.1 Size

Size refers to the magnitude, extent, relative aggregate amount or number, or dose of the program or intervention that impacts upon the user, thereby creating the desired effect (i.e. effect size). Hence, size is a function of multiple aspects of intervention elements. For example, in the context of physical activity programming, size of the intervention relates to how often (frequency) and for how long (duration – accumulated time during the course of the day) a given individual participates in a given activity, the degree of exertion (intensity) involved in participating in a given activity and the type of activity (modality) in which a given individual participates.

Size, or the relative aggregate volume of an intervention an individual receives, is also closely related to the overall goals and objectives of the program. Again considering the case of physical activity, current guidelines indicate that approximately 1200–1500kcal of energy expenditure per week appears to be related to significant health benefits.^[22] However, if the physical activity program is designed to meet goals and objectives in the context of long-term weight loss maintenance, total energy expenditures may need to more closely approximate 2500–3000kcal per week.^[23,24] Therefore, depending on the specific aims of the program, intervention size is variable.

3.2 Scope

Scope refers to the range of program operations and the extent of program activities. The scope of a program designed to increase the level of physical activity of a defined adult population may, for example, limit itself to increasing the number of days per week in which individuals engage in moderate levels of physical activity, but will not consider increases in cardiorespiratory fitness. Alternatively, scope may be limited to reach the target population in worksites, medical care clinics and homesettings with targeted outreach approaches but will not include broad-based community outreach. If the primary audience for the program is adults, the program may additionally limit itself to one or more physical activity modalities that are acceptable, appropriate and of interest to the majority of the target population. Hence, the type of physical activity interventions endorsed, supported, addressed and marketed within the scope of this program may include walking and bicycling, but are not likely to include marathon training, high impact aerobics, or windsurfing.

Program scope may also refer to the number of behaviors or risk factors addressed. For example, if the program objectives are focused on improving the care of patients with diabetes, the scope of the program may include self-care strategies, physical activity promotion and achievement of healthy weight.

3.3 Scalability

Scalability refers to the ability of a program to follow a systematically timed, planned and graded series of steps that cumulatively account for the continuously increasing reach of a program until a critical mass is attained or the entire target population is engaged. Scalability is dependent upon multiple factors including, but not limited to, the willingness of members of the target population to participate,^[25] per unit costs of the intervention in the context of total resource availability, effective use of all available media to recruit and engage individuals, and partnership potential with other stakeholders supporting similar goals. Marketing and advertising approaches need to be designed to reach and engage individuals within the population. This means that the messages should not only inform and increase awareness, but also engage and persuade individuals to take action.

3.4 Sustainability

Sustainability refers to the long-term, ongoing support for the program in relation to an accepted value proposition that balances allocated resources (e.g. time, money, people, or other available means) against generated revenues or benefits and includes the confirmation of long-term program support through adequate proof of performance.^[18] In order to achieve sustainability, a health promotion program needs to be positioned as a sub-system within a higher-order system that involves all key stakeholders, allows for both input and feedback of these stakeholders, and systematically addresses program implementation, measurement, documentation, and monitoring of resource use. This process, described earlier as an integral part of a systems approach to population health improvement,^[18] continuously documents the value proposition of the program for each of the key stakeholders in this process. The key stakeholders have previously been identified as the individual, the employer, the clinician or provider, and the health plan.^[26]

4. The Penetration, Implementation, Participation and Effectiveness (PIPE) Impact Metric for Evaluating Health Promotion Program Impact

Once program design is completed, the program is activated and implemented. In order to monitor the degree of program impact on its outlined objectives and processes, several factors are identified as critical elements. The elements of this part of the model are termed penetration, implementation, participation and effectiveness, collectively referred to as the PIPE Impact Metric (see figure 1).

In the context of population health improvement programming, these four elements of the PIPE Impact Metric may be considered separate impact measures that each refer to equally important aspects of program activation. Yet, in addition to their unique contribution, they may also be considered integrally related since each single element on its own without the others will generate no impact.

Penetration and implementation are two elements more closely related to the investment of energy and effort that needs to go into bringing programs to the user (proximal to the program administrator, distal to the user/consumer), whereas participation and effectiveness reflect engaged users or consumers (distal to the program administrator, proximal to the user/consumer).^[27,28] From a program administration perspective, overall program impact should reflect both the investments made to create the effect as well the outcomes among the population. Therefore, a net impact metric is considered, which is proposed as the multiplicative result of all four distinct elements of the PIPE Impact Metric.

From the users' or the customers' viewpoint, the impact that reflects the health generating capacity of the program may be all that counts – impact becomes the multiplicative effect of participation times effectiveness.^[27,28] This impact metric, however, is more representative of a gross estimate of the total program impact evaluation. It does not take into account the investment that is needed to bring about participation and the desired effectiveness, whether this investment is considered in general terms of resource use or more specifically as in cost, time, or staff expertise and knowledge. When this investment is taken into account, the need exists to document this investment and subtract it from the gross estimate in order to obtain a net estimate. Using this method, the model can also be considered in the calculation of cost effectiveness estimations or return on investment calculations.

Section 5 describes each of the elements of the PIPE Impact Metric. In addition, an example is used to illustrate how the metric works. Actual data from a population-based physical activity program promotion is used in both the description of each of the elements as well as the discussion of how the metric can identify areas for improvement. The physical activity program is a walking program, called 10 000 Steps, designed to support individual efforts to increase lifestyle physical activity (http://www. healthpartners.com/10000steps).^[29]

5. Elements of the PIPE Impact Metric

5.1 Penetration

Penetration refers to the proportion of the target population that is reached with invitations to engage in the program or intervention. Since this element represents a rate, it is extremely important that the population is defined *a priori*. Prior to program activation, this denominator needs to be clearly defined in order to avoid miscalculation and misrepresentation of the efforts and impact reported. In cases where the target population may not be explicitly known, a reasonable estimate should be made. If this is not possible, program administrators should consider this a reason to progress cautiously since the likelihood that scalability and sustainability will ever be achieved is doubtful.

The number of individuals in the target population who receive invitations and are exposed to strategies designed to engage them is directly related to the scalability component of the design phase. However, the degree of exposure to program engagement strategies is integral to the implementation element described in section 5.2. Penetration captures the notion of successful outreach to each individual of the target audience, not the intensity of such outreach.

5.1.1 Penetration Example

All HealthPartners (Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA) health plan members diagnosed with diabetes mellitus were identified as the target audience for a walking program promotion. The health plan used its administrative databases to create a registry of members with diagnosed diabetes mellitus and defined this group as the target population,^[30] i.e. this group represents the denominator in the rate calculation for assessing program penetration. At the end of the measurement period, program documentation was reviewed and the outreach measurement to each of the individual members provided the numerator. Incorrect addresses, recent deaths, or recent relocations represent limiting factors in the coefficient associated with penetration. The number of members with diagnosed diabetes mellitus included in the registry was 16 968. Due to the limiting factors, 16 574 members were reached with messages about the walking program. Therefore, penetration was calculated as follows: (16574/16968) =0.98 (98%).

5.2 Implementation

Implementation refers to the degree to which the program has been implemented according to the design specifications and the associated work plans. The implementation coefficient reflects program fidelity - the higher the degree of program fidelity, the higher the implementation coefficient since it represents the degree to which a program was implemented as intended. It is important to recognize that this factor is inclusive of all aspects of operations related to the program. That is, it represents work conducted across multiple teams, departments, and settings. All components of the work plan need to be considered here, particularly if individuals can only be reached if multiple settings work together. For example, a health plan sends program materials to a worksite coordinator who presents materials to the intended audience. In such a scenario, the work plan is dependent upon individuals in multiple settings and will be only partially implemented if one of the two groups does not follow-through as needed. Documentation of work plan completion is the data source for the numerator and all the work plan action steps to be implemented by all program providers represent the denominator.

5.2.1 Implementation Example

Following on from the example of the HealthPartners health plan members with diabetes mellitus taking part in a walking program promotion^[29] (described in section 5.1.1), a review of the work plan outlined to implement the walking program for patients with diabetes mellitus revealed that 85% of the work plan was considered to have been implemented by the end of the measurement period. Hence, the implementation coefficient equals 0.85 (85%).

5.3 Participation

Participation refers to the proportion of invited individuals who enroll in the program according to program protocol. The denominator for the participation factor is the same as the numerator of the penetration factor, i.e. the proportion of the target population that is reached with invitations to engage in the program or intervention.

Participation is of significant interest by itself, both as a rate, as well as an absolute number. If participation is extremely low, it should prompt program administrators to investigate the reason for this. Participation may be a reflection of communication efforts (marketing, advertising), quality of collaborative materials, ease of enrollment procedures, and cost to the user, among other reasons. In addition, if the willingness of the population to communicate or participate in a health promotion program is low,^[25]

it may be necessary to shift focus from program implementation to raising awareness of the need to participate.

Whereas enrollment is an observable criterion for participation to be documented, attrition is also a consideration worthy of acknowledgment. In the PIPE Impact Metric it is suggested that the combination of participation and effectiveness (described in section 5.4) will effectively address the issue of attrition since participation in the context of effectiveness is linked to success. Attrition, on the other hand, indicates the notion that individuals did not meet a programmatically driven objective even though they may have been successful at meeting the program success criterion. For example, individuals may have dropped out prior to completion of the program, but this may be due to achieving their objectives prior to the last session.

Participation results should be considered in the context of how the population is defined. For example, public health types of programs are implemented for a large number of people. Even relatively low participation may bring about large differences in health risk reduction between participants and non-participants, especially if those of higher needs participated more fully.

5.3.1 Participation Example

In the HealthPartners health plan members with diabetes mellitus example used thus far,^[29] 2752 patients were enrolled in the walking program as a result of the outreach program. Hence, the coefficient for the participation factor in this example equals $(2752/16\ 574) = 0.17\ (17\%)$.

5.4 Effectiveness

Effectiveness refers to the rate of successful participants. It is considered in the context of programming conducted in the real-world setting. The criterion for success is defined as part of the design phase and should be closely related to the anticipated health benefit that, in turn, is associated with reduction of health risks.

Effectiveness is sometimes difficult to quantify due to lack of individual-level program outcomes. Particularly in the context of real-world health improvement programs, the need for simple, yet sufficiently informative measures of effectiveness is high. This type of measure may be based on self-report, clinical data or program administration data. Unfortunately, the incentive for individuals to continue to report on their progress is often lacking. Therefore, it is important from a program administration perspective to build incentives and continued contact opportunities into the program design.

The denominator used for the calculation of effectiveness is the same as the numerator of the participation factor, i.e. the proportion of the target population that is reached with invitations to engage in the program or intervention. The numerator for the calculation of effectiveness is represented by the number of individuals who met the success criterion for the program.

5.4.1 Effectiveness Example

In the example of the walking program for health plan members with diabetes mellitus,^[29] success was defined as reaching on average a minimum of 8000 steps per day during the last week of an 8-week intervention designed to increase the number of accumulated steps to 10 000 per day. Due to the program design, documentation is only available from those individuals who returned their 8-week step-log. Despite the availability of incentives to return walking logs at the end of 8 weeks, not all participants returned the log. Hence, the criterion for success among the participants is considered a conservative estimate. Of the total number of participants, 1250 met the success criterion. Hence, the effectiveness coefficient was (1250/2752) = 0.45 (45%).

6. Calculation of the PIPE Impact Metric

To complete the calculation of the PIPE Impact Metric from an administrative and a user's perspective, each of the factors and its coefficients (subscores) are used as follows: the impact from a program administration perspective is represented by the product of all PIPE Impact Metric elements, i.e. penetration × implementation × participation × effectiveness. Using values derived from the walking program for health plan members with diabetes,^[29] an example of this is as follows: $0.98 \times 0.85 \times 0.17 \times 0.45$ = 0.0637 (6.37%). The impact from a user perspective is calculated as the product of participation and effectiveness, i.e. 0.17 × 0.45 = 0.0765 (7.65%).

The difference between the administrative and the user/ consumer perspective is not large, a reflection of the relative high scores in the coefficients of penetration and implementation. A review of all subscores points out that the participation factor reflects the greatest opportunity for improving overall program impact. Questions should be asked regarding how and where changes in the overall approach of the program should be made. For example, program administrators may ask:

- Did the communication strategy clearly describe the enrollment process?
- Did the target audience recognize the benefits of the program?
- Was there sufficient time for the target audience to consider enrollment between the invitations and the participation measurement time?
- Were the incentives to enroll sufficiently strong?
- Was the outreach strategy of a sufficient intensity to anticipate a higher participation rate than what was observed?
- Is the participant enrollment fee too high?

• What are the potential barriers to participation as considered from the target audience perspective?

Considering that participation reflects the greatest opportunity for improving impact, it may well be that scalability in design is lacking, perhaps due to lack of effectiveness or volume of program marketing efforts. If this is considered a reasonable assumption, the implementation step and the work plan may be adjusted. The PIPE Impact Metric can then again be used to document changes in impact for the next measurement period.

7. Discussion

As outlined in figure 1, the model is designed to inform program administrators about opportunities for improvement. The closed-loop nature^[18,19] of the model allows for this to occur at several points. First, administrative impact may be compared with user/consumer impact. If the difference between these two is large, then changes can be instituted relatively quickly by adjusting the work plan and/or increasing the number of people invited to the program. If the difference between the two is small, then a review of the work plan components as well as the program design elements will be needed, especially if participation, effectiveness, or both have low coefficients.

Secondly, the PIPE Impact Metric total score, as well as its individual subscores, should be considered in the context of the 4-Ss of program design. Total and subscores may inform program administrators about areas for improvement. For example, penetration coefficients may be considered in the context of program design aspects of scope and scalability whereas effectiveness may be considered in the context of size. Clearly, each coefficient may drive a series of questions that will have a direct effect on changes and improvements of the program and its evolution.

In the context of limited resources, program administrators are always forced to question major issues and considerations how many people are affected, what kind of return will the effort produce, does the effort match organizational priorities? Considering a defined population, the question becomes fairly simple, fairly quickly: 'How can we reach most or all people with the least amount of resources and the best outcomes?' From this perspective, it becomes clear that all elements of the 4-Ss of program design and the PIPE Impact Metric are relevant. In fact, outcome measures may be considered in a variety of domains and still all elements of the model remain relevant. Behavioral outcomes (physical activity, smoking, substance abuse), clinical health outcomes (glycosylated hemoglobin, low density lipoprotein), cost outcomes (inpatient costs, outpatient costs), or indirect costs (absenteeism, quantity of work performed, quality of work performed) all fit the same process outlined in the model. In addition, the model may be considered not only in health promotion and

disease prevention programs, but also in medical management, case management, or other aspects of care delivery. All elements of the model are considered equally important, as exemplified by the nature of the PIPE Impact Metric – if any of the four PIPE elements is equal to zero, the entire effort will have zero impact (since the impact from a program administration perspective is represented by the product of all PIPE Impact Metric elements, as outlined in section 6).

7.1 Collaboration

One of the consequences of implementing the model is that it creates an opportunity to quantify the reason for effective collaborations among intra- and inter-organizational entities. Often, multiple departments or organizations work together to achieve agreed upon objectives for the benefit of all involved. However, since different departments and organizations often function as independent units with little operational overlap, a silo-effect occurs and gaps in operational efficiency create loose connections and loss of effectiveness. The proposed model allows for a means to document overall impact as well as several critical elements of operational performance. Reflecting upon each of these elements may support the identification of disconnects among multiple stakeholders and, perhaps more importantly, reduce the identified gaps and improve connectiveness.

7.2 Limitations and Strengths

In the absence of normative data, the precise meaning of the overall PIPE Impact Metric score remains unknown. Furthermore, the meaning of the inter-relationship among each of the PIPE Impact Metric elements and the interaction among the PIPE elements and the 4-Ss of design is not known. However, these interactions are clearly related to opportunities for improvement. At this time, applications of the model to various interventions and programs may serve as unique case studies until further research allows for identification of trends and normative data. These data could emerge as a result of disease-specific, behavior-specific, or outcomes-specific evaluation efforts being applied to the application of large-scale, real-world health improvement efforts.

On the other hand, strengths of the proposed model include its simplicity. A simple approach that systematically guides program administrators to follow a path leading to critical elements of program design and impact measurement will also allow for the systematic identification of program improvement and, ultimately, higher levels of success and impact. In addition, the approach can support collaborations within and among organizations that is the result of and the impetus for sustained program success.

8. Conclusion

A simple model has been outlined that describes a systematic approach to health promotion program design and evaluation. The model outlines four simple steps to program design (size, scope, scalability and sustainability) and four elements related to program impact measurement (penetration, implementation, participation and effectiveness). This model has been derived from work conducted in the applied setting, however it is based on scientific theory and appears congruent with findings from existing, but more complicated, models. The result of the application of the model appears to confirm the presence of a set of simple rules related to critical health improvement program design and evaluation features. Whereas additional experience with the model will allow for further modifications and evolution, early experience indicates it serves program planners and administrators well in terms of systematic program improvement and documentation of effort and impact.

Acknowledgements

The authors have provided no information on sources of funding or on conflicts of interest directly relevant to the content of this review.

References

- Green LW, Kreuter MW. Health promotion planning: an educational and environmental approach. Mountain View (CA): Mayfield, 1991
- Breckon DJ. Hospital health education: a guide to program development. Palo Alto (CA): Mayfield, 1984
- Rohrer JE. Planning for community-oriented health systems. Baltimore (MD): APHA United Book Press, Inc, 1996
- Langley GJ, Nolan KM, Nolan TW, et al. The improvement guide. a practical approach to enhancing organizational performance. San Francisco (CA): Jossey-Bass, Inc, 1996
- Health and behavior: the interplay of biological, behavioral, and societal influences. Washington, DC. Committee on Health and Behavior, Research, Practice, and Policy Board on Neuroscience and Behavioral Health, Institute of Medicine, National Academy of Sciences, 2001
- Wheatley MJ, Kellner-Rogers M. A simpler way. San Francisco (CA): Berrett-Koehler Publishers, 1996
- Harman W. Global mind change: the promise of the twenty-first century. San Francisco (CA): Berrett-Koehler Publishers Inc, 1998
- 8. Bohm D. Wholeness and the implicate order. New York: Routledge, 1997
- Wilbur K. Sex, ecology, spirituality: the spirit of evolution. Boston (MA): Shambhala, 1995
- Von Bertalanffy L. General systems theory: foundations, development, and applications. Rev ed. New York: George Braziller Publishers, 1968
- 11. Prigogine I, Stengers I. The end of certainty. New York: The Free Press, 1996
- Maturana HR, Varela FJ. The tree of knowledge: the biological roots of human understanding. Rev ed. Boston: Shambhala, 1998
- 13. Abraham R, Shaw C. Dynamics. Santa Cruz (CA): Aerial, 1985
- 14. Sheldrake R. A new science of life. Los Angeles (CA): Tarcher, 1981
- 15. Murphy M. The future of the body. Los Angeles (CA): Tarcher, 1992

- Evans G, Barer ML, Marmor TR, editors. Why are some people healthy and others not? The determinants of health of populations. New York: Aldine de Gruyter, 1994
- Isham G. Population health and HMOs: the partners for better health experience. Healthc Forum J 1997 Nov/Dec; 40 (6): 36-39
- Pronk NP, O'Connor PJ. Systems approach to population health improvement. J Ambul Care Manage 1997; 20 (4): 24-31
- Senge PM. The fifth discipline: the art and practice of the learning organization. New York: DoubleDay, 1990
- Hughes TE, Faulkner DL, Gibson PJ. The role of population research in disease prevention and management. Dis Manage Health Outcomes 1997; 1 (1): 42-8
- Van de Ven A, Koenig R. A process model for program planning and evaluation. J Econ Bus 1976; 28 (6): 161-70
- 22. US Department of Health and Human Services. Physical activity and health: a report of the surgeon general. Atlanta (GA): US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, 1996
- Wing RR, Hill JO. Successful weight loss maintenance. Annu Rev Nutr 2001; 21: 323-41
- American College of Sports Medicine position stand on the appropriate intervention strategies for weight loss and prevention of weight regain for adults. Med Sci Sport Exerc 2001; 33: 2145-56
- O'Connor PJ, Rush WA, Rardin KA, et al. Are HMO members willing to engage in two-way communication to improve health? HMO Pract 1996; 10 (1): 17-9

- Pronk NP, Entzion K. Worksite health promotion and managed care: creating partnerships for population health improvement. AWHP's Worksite Health 1998; Summer: 10-7
- Abrams DB, Orleans CT, Niaura RS, et al. Integrating individual and public health perspectives for treatment of tobacco dependence under managed health care: a combined stepped care and matching model. Ann Intern Med 1996; 18: 290-304
- Glasgow RE, Vogt TM, Boles SM. Evaluating the public health impact of health promotion interventions: the RE-AIM framework. Am J Public Health 1999; 89 (9): 1322-7
- Lindberg R. Active living: on the road with the 10,000 steps program. J Am Diet Assoc 2000; 100 (8): 878-9
- Pronk NP, O'Connor PJ, Isham G, et al. Building a patient registry for implementation of health promotion initiatives: targeting high-risk individuals. HMO Pract 1997; 11 (1): 43-6

About the Author: Dr Pronk is vice president of the Center for Health Promotion at HealthPartners in Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA. He is also a Research Investigator at the HealthPartners Research Foundation. Dr Pronk's research interests include physical activity and obesity research, health system improvement models, and translation research in general. Correspondence and offprints: Dr *Nicolaas Pronk*, HealthPartners, Center for Health Promotion, 8100 34th Avenue South, Minneapolis, MN 55440-1309, USA.

E-mail: nico.p.pronk@healthpartners.com